NO. 28167-1-III

| THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHING<br>DIVISION THREE                 |
|--|
| In re Detention of Rolando Reyes   |
| STATE OF WASHINGTON,   |
| Respondent,  |
| v.   |
| ROLANDO REYES,   |
| Appellant.   |
| ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR BENTON COUNTY |
| The Honorable Craig J. Matheson, Judge   |
| BRIEF OF APPELLANT   |
| HARLAN R. DO   |

HARLAN R. DORFMAN CHRISTOPHER H. GIBSON Attorneys for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122



NO. 28167-1-III

| N THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGT DIVISION THREE                 |
|--|
| In re Detention of Rolando Reyes   |

#### Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Under Washington and federal constitutional guarantees, all trials are to be conducted in open and before the public. Court proceedings cannot be closed to the public unless the court follows strict mandatory procedures. The remedy for closure without such procedures is a new trial. The record shows the court below held a hearing on appellant's motion to dismiss for want of jurisdiction in chambers with a court reporter. Because there is no record of the requisite closure procedures, is a new trial required?
- 2. The court found appellant suffered from three paraphilias pedophilia, Frottuerism, and exhibitionism in addition to other mental health issues. A diagnosis of pedophilia requires the appellant have recurrent, intense sexually arousing fantasies, sexual urges, or behaviors involving sexual activity with a prepubescent child, and be at least 16 years and at least five years older than the child or children referenced in the first criterion. No evidence of recurring intense fantasies or sexual urges was presented, and the court and the State's expert based their findings solely on appellant's behavior. Evidence was presented of only two instances of behaviors relevant to pedophilia one when appellant was 14, and one when he was 17. No evidence was presented of recurrent behaviors, fantasies or urges after appellant became 16 years old, and the

two offenses appear to have been isolated incidents. Is the evidence of pedophilia insufficient?

#### B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

#### 1. <u>Procedural History</u>

On March 14, 2004, the Attorney General filed a petition in Benton County to have appellant Rolando Reyes committed under Chapter 71.09 RCW (2004 petition). CP 3. The Honorable Craig Matheson found probable cause to hold Reyes and he was sent to the Special Commitment Center (SCC) on McNeil Island for evaluation. CP 3-4, 43-44. While there Reyes engaged in conduct which resulted in his conviction in Pierce County Superior Court on two charges of custodial assault with sexual motivation. CP 4. Reyes was sentenced to concurrent 36-month terms and the 2004 petition was dismissed without prejudice. CP 4, 46.

On January 2, 2008, two days prior to Reyes's scheduled release on the Pierce County matters, the Attorney General re-filed its Chapter 71.09 RCW petition in Benton County (the 2008 petition). CP 1-2, 4. Reyes, through his attorney, stipulated to probable cause and waived the probable cause hearing. CP 283-85.

Because Reyes had a severe brain injury from a motorcycle accident, the court appointed a Guardian Ad Litem (GAL). CP 286-87.

The GAL filed a motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction, which was denied. CP 58-78; 1RP<sup>1</sup> 16-17.

Reyes waived a jury trial, and the Honorable Judge Matheson conducted a bench trial. CP 79; 1RP18. At the start of trial, the court determined Reyes was competent and did not require the services of a GAL. 1RP 24-25. The GAL remained in the case as second counsel. 1RP 24-25. Following trial, the court found Reyes met the criteria for commitment as a sexually violent predator beyond a reasonable doubt, and ordered him committed to the SCC.<sup>2</sup> 3RP 561-65.

This appeal timely follows. CP 280-81.

#### 2. Substantive Facts

Reyes was born on June 11, 1983. As a child, Reyes was sexually abused by a much older cousin. CP 24-25. This abuse started when Reyes was between 9-and-11-years old and continued until he was 18. . CP 24-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Verbatim Report of Proceedings are referenced as follows: 1RP - 5/22/09 and 6/1/09; 2RP - 6/2/09 and 6/3/09; and 3RP - 6/4/09 and 6/5/09.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The court's oral opinion was given the afternoon of the last day of trial. 3RP 561-64. The court spent "a couple of hours reviewing all the exhibits and [his] notes on the testimony, [and] law on the case" before rendering its decision. 3RP 561. While the written Findings and Conclusions were filed on July 10, 2010, that document was misfiled and was not available when this brief was originally prepared. The Findings and Conclusions document was subsequently located and has been designated as Clerk's Papers. CP 307-311. This Court has requested this Amended Brief to address the written Findings and Conclusions.

25. At 13, Reyes was diagnosed with attention deficit disorder and was taking Ritalin when arrested for his first sexual offense at 14.<sup>3</sup> CP 26.

When Reyes was 16, he was involved in a motorcycle accident, which left him in a coma for approximately six weeks and required hospitalization for five months. CP 28. A toxicology screen taken at the time of the accident was positive for cocaine. CP 28. As a result of the accident, Reyes suffered a brain injury that left him partially paralyzed in his right arm and leg, with a severe gait and balance impairment, a significant right foot drop, and a speech impediment. CP 28. Reyes subsequently developed seizures, for which he was being medicated at the time of his evaluation. CP 28. The accident is also associated with a finding of mild mental retardation. CP 26. Following the accident, Reyes's full-scale IQ was reported to be 66. CP 26.

#### a. Predicate Offenses.

The certifications for both the 2004 and 2008 petitions alleged two predicate offenses: a 1997 first-degree child rape and a 2002 residential burglary. CP 4-6, 12-14. The burglary was initially alleged to have been committed with sexual motivation, but Reyes pled to the offense without the sexual motivation component. CP 5-6, 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This offense is discussed below.

## i. 1997: First-Degree Child Rape.<sup>4</sup>

On October 5, 1997, two cousins – 9-year-old SA and 8-year-old JM – neighbors, but not related to Reyes, came to Reyes's home to show him a stink bomb they had purchased. CP 19. Reyes was 14. CP 19. According to the boys, Reyes said, "let me see your dick, fool," and "c'mon pal, don't be down." CP 19. Reyes opened his pants and pulled his penis and testicles out from his boxers. CP 19. SA and JM then pulled their penises out. CP 19. Reyes told the boys to suck his penis and said he would have his pit bull attack the boys if they refused. CP 19-20. According to the boys, both of them sucked his penis. CP 20. Reyes also masturbated SA. CP 20. Reves told SA not to tell anyone, and followed him home to ensure he did not tell. CP 20. SA, however, immediately told his 15-year-old sister who confronted Reyes. CP 20. Reyes initially denied the accusation. CP 20. He was arrested the following day, and eventually pled guilty to one count of first-degree child rape. CP 19-20. Reyes was sentenced under the SSODA option to 80 days incarceration with three-to-five months suspended, community supervision, community service, sex offender therapy, and sex offender registration. CP 20.

In his interview with the State's expert witness, Reyes acknowledged telling the boys to suck his penis and attributed this conduct

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Benton/Franklin County Juvenile Division, Cause No. 97-8-50376-5.

to his earlier abuse by his older cousin. CP 20. Reyes denied being attracted to the boys, expressing dismay about their age, and acknowledging he had acted selfishly, without thinking about the effect his conduct would have on them. CP 20. He also denied fantasizing about them. CP 20. Rather, Reyes expressed an interest in their older sister, whose breasts he used to touch. CP 20. She was older than Reyes, and Reyes said she liked it when he touched her breasts. CP 20.

#### ii. 2002: Residential Burglary.<sup>5</sup>

On March 5, 2002, when he was 18, Reyes went to the home of an adult female neighbor, rang the bell, and pushed his way in when she answered. CP 21. The neighbor noticed Reyes had a cut on his arm. CP 21. Reyes went into the living room, grabbed the woman by her shoulders, and then grabbed both of her breasts. CP 21. The woman became frightened and ran out the front door. CP 21. Reyes went into the kitchen and began using one of the woman's knives to cut himself. CP 21. In the meantime, the woman had reentered the home through the back sliding door. CP 21. Reyes pointed the knife at his heart and stomach and said he wanted to kill himself. CP 21. The woman asked Reyes to put the knife down, but he began approaching the woman. CP 21. The woman

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Benton County Cause No. 02-1-00255-6. As noted above, this offense was cited by the State as a predicate crime of sexual violence. CP 5-6, 14. In his evaluation, however, the State's expert treated this case as a "non-qualifying sexual offense[]." CP 21-22.

went into the back yard, with Reyes following her. CP 21. Once Reyes was outside the home he was taken into custody by police. CP 21.

Reyes was initially charged with residential burglary with a sexual motivation allegation. CP 21. The sexual motivation allegation was dismissed as part of the plea negotiations. CP 21. Reyes entered a guilty plea and was sentenced to 12 months in the county jail. CP 21.

During his interview with the State's expert, Reyes said he had gotten into trouble at school for eating a granola bar and had started cutting his wrists on the way home. CP 22. Reyes said he had gone to the neighbor's house because he wanted to grab her breasts. CP 22. Reyes said he had done this before by putting his arm around her neck and grabbing her breast for about five seconds. CP 22. He denied forcing his way into the house. CP 22. He also denied grabbing both of her breasts and said that would not have been possible because his right arm was paralyzed. CP 22. Reyes also said he went to her house because he wanted someone to call the police and paramedics. CP 22.

### b. Other Sexual Offense Convictions.<sup>6</sup>

# i. <u>December 2000: Communicating with a Minor for Immoral Purposes.</u><sup>7</sup>

In December 2000, when he was 17, Reyes was at the home of a distant relative, who had two daughters aged five and nine. CP 20. The older girl said Reyes asked her to sit on his lap, which she did. CP 20. The older girl said she had been sitting on his lap for a few minutes when she felt something hard. CP 20. She turned and found Reyes's pants unzipped, with his erect penis rubbing against her backside. CP 20. The younger girl said Reyes had her sit on his lap, and he reached inside her pajama bottoms with his hands, rubbing the outside of her vagina. CP 20.

Reyes acknowledged committing both acts on the same evening with intent to achieve sexual gratification. CP 20-21. The case was initially charged as first-degree child molestation, but was reduced to communication with a minor for immoral purposes as part of the plea negotiation. CP 21.

During the interview with the State's expert, Reyes initially denied offending against the younger girl. CP 21. Once he was confronted with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In addition to his sexual offenses, Reyes other offenses include: a November 17, 1997 conviction for misdemeanor tampering with fire alarm equipment; a December 11, 1998 conviction for driving without a license; an arrest for failure to comply on August 24, 2002, and a February 9, 2003 conviction for felony attempting to elude a police vehicle.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Adams County Cause No. 01-1-00124-8.

the police statements and witness reports, however, Reyes acknowledged conduct with both girls. CP 21. Reyes said the girls' mother would regularly let him drape his arm around her neck and touch her breasts. CP He said she also helped him shower following his motor cycle accident, and twice touched his genitals in the process. CP 21. Reyes said he became sexually excited during the visit and told the older girl to "suck my you know what," which led her to report his conduct to her mother. CP 21. Reyes denied feeling sexually aroused by the girls and said he had been thinking about the mother while rubbing against the girls. CP 21. Reves told the State's expert, "It's not my style to think sexually about kids. I don't feel sexual about children, just about other things that lead up to it. I just want the sexual feeling, like with the boys, to have them suck on my thing. In Othello I would get sex every night with Daniel [Reyes's older abusive cousin], but in the tri-Cities there was nobody to have sex with." CP 21.

#### ii. <u>2004 and 2005: SCC Custodial Assaults</u> With Sexual Motivation.<sup>8</sup>

These two offenses occurred while Reyes was confined at the SCC awaiting trial on the 2004 petition. CP 4. These cases were joined at trial and sentenced concurrently. CP 7-8.

The 2004 assault arose from an incident after Reyes had received dental services in a bus parked behind the SCC medical building on October 16, 2004. CP 48. When the dental work was completed, Reyes got up to leave, but "acted like he tripped on something," moving towards the dental manager and attempting to grab her right breast in the process. CP 48. As he was leaving the bus, Reyes succeeded in cupping her breast in the palm of his hand. CP 48. The manager said this was deliberate. CP 48. She grabbed Reyes's hand, placed it on the rail, and told him not to grab her breast. CP 48-49. A corrections officer witnessed the incident. CP 49. Reyes denied the accuracy of the report. CP 49. He said he was leaving without difficulty, but the manager tried to help anyway. CP 49.

The 2005 assault arose from an incident while Reyes was in the SCC weight room being assisted by a recreational rehabilitation counselor

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> These cases were joined at trial and sentenced concurrently. The 2004 case was filed as Pierce County Cause No. 04-1-05679-1. The 2005 case was filed as Pierce County Cause No. 05-1-04313-1.

on May 14, 2005. CP 49. The counselor reported Reyes touched her buttocks as she bent over to move an exercise mat. CP 49.

Following a bench trial, Reyes was found guilty of both assaults. CP 49. The court gave Reyes an exceptional sentence of 36 months, below the standard range (51-60 months), based on Reyes's low IQ, his significant impairment (from the head trauma) to understand the wrongfulness of his acts, and the court's preference for a treatment program rather than a correctional facility in this case. CP 49-50.

#### c. The State's Expert: Dr. Douglas E. Tucker, M.D.

The State presented Douglas E. Tucker, M.D., a psychiatrist, as its expert witness.<sup>11</sup> Tucker prepared an evaluation of Reyes on February 24,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The substance of this offense is addressed below in section B.2.f detailing the testimony of Wendy Ehlers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> In addition to Reyes's convictions, the court heard testimony from Dr. Douglas Tucker, the State's expert, about an allegation of rape Reyes was supposed to have committed against Harry Fox, another inmate at the SCC. 1RP 166. That inmate's allegation was supported by another inmate who claimed to have witnessed the rape, but who Tucker acknowledged had had some conflict with Reyes. 1RP 167-68. Tucker acknowledged he had not interviewed Fox, but based solely on the incident reports, Tucker said he had "a "reasonable medical certainty that it actually happened." 1RP 167. The rape allegation asserted forcible anal penetration, but there was no physical evidence supporting this, including no report of bruising or bleeding around Fox's anus. 1RP 169-70.

Reyes was placed into segregation for a period, which may have been for protective custody, but no formal institutional procedures were brought against him as a result of the allegation. 1RP 202-03; 3RP 409-11. By the time of the trial, more than seven months after the alleged rape, no criminal charges were filed arising from this allegation. 1RP 174; 3RP 410. Ultimately, Tucker acknowledged it was possible the alleged rape never occurred. 1RP 203.

This explication of Tucker's presentation is based on his evaluations, augmented by his testimony. See CP 18-41, 48-56; 1RP 38-219; 2RP 223-317.

2004, based in part on his three-hour-ten-minute interview of Reyes at the SCC on January 29, 2004. CP 18.

During the interview, Tucker noted Reyes demonstrated obvious paralysis on his right side, including constant right elbow flexion and dragging his right foot in a very slow and awkward gait. CP 31. Tucker noted Reyes was generally calm, cooperative and polite, and easily maintained good eye contact and rapport throughout the interview. Id. During the interview, Reyes's mood and affect were normal, although he did make some inappropriate sexual jokes. Id. Tucker found Reyes's thought process to be goal-directed, with appropriate concern about the civil commitment process. Id. Tucker also found no evidence of current suicidal or homicidal ideation, hallucinations, delusions, paranoia, or any other psychotic content. Id.

Tucker administered the Mini Mental State Exam (MMSE), which assesses potential cases of dementia, and the Frontal Assessment Battery, which assesses the executive functioning of the frontal lobes. 1RP 50-51. On the MMSE, Tucker scored Reyes just above the cutoff used for dementia. 2RP 51. On the Frontal Assessment Batter, Tucker found evidence of frontal lobe impairments in conceptualization, sensitivity to interference (conflicting instructions) and inhibitory control. CP 31-32;

2RP 51. Following the interview, Tucker also scored Reyes on the Psychopathy Checklist Revised (PCLR). 1RP 50.

In regard to the commitment criteria, Tucker found Reyes had been convicted of a qualifying predicate offense – the 1997 first-degree rape of a child, committed when Reyes was 14 years of age. CP 19-20.

Tucker also found Reyes had a mental abnormality and diagnosed him on Axis I with three paraphilias: pedophilia (both males and females); Frottuerism; and exhibitionism. CP 32; 1RP 54-55, 61, 65, 68. Tucker also found Axis I diagnoses of polysubstance dependence (alcohol, marijuana, and intranasal cocaine), attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (combined type) (ADHD), and cognitive disorder not otherwise specified (NOS). CP 32; 1RP 55. The cognitive disorder NOS referred to Reyes's intellectual impairment resulting from his traumatic brain injury. 1RP 55. On Axis II, Tucker diagnosed Reyes with antisocial personality disorder. CP 32; 1RP 55. Tucker testified the antisocial personality disorder contributed to Reyes's behavior, but was not sufficient in itself to constitute the mental abnormality required by statute. 1RP 76.

Tucker opined the paraphilia diagnoses indicated a predisposition to commit sexual crimes. CP 34; 1RP 80-83. Tucker also opined Reyes's volitional capacity had been affected, reasoning the drive to act on these paraphilia had overcome obvious barriers, including victim protests and

prior experiences of detection and punishment. CP 34; 1RP 79-80. Tucker further opined Reyes's ADHD, cognitive disorder NOS, antisocial personality disorder, and polysubstance dependence acted to disinhibit his deviant sexual urges, and reduced his volitional control and emotional responsiveness to his victims. CP 34; 1RP 79-80. Tucker said none of Reyes's diagnoses alone qualified as a mental abnormality, but opined Reyes met the statutory criteria for qualifying mental abnormality based on his multiple psychiatric diagnoses. 1RP 122.

Tucker applied a clinically adjusted actuarial approach to assess Reyes's risk of reoffending. 1RP 96. In support of his opinion, Tucker presented the results of two actuarial tests.<sup>12</sup> CP 35.

In Tucker's initial evaluation, he scored Reyes on the Static-99 – a "moderate predictor" of sexual re-offense – as a 7, which Tucker said placed him in the highest risk category for conviction on another sexual offense. CP 35. Based on this result, the instrument predicted: a five-year risk of sexual re-offense of 39 percent; a ten-year risk of 45 percent; and a fifteen-year risk of 52 percent. CP 35. In the 2007 addendum and in his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> On November 29, 2007, Tucker presented an addendum to his 2004 evaluation, which addressed the two custodial assaults with sexual motivation at the SCC, SCC clinical notes and DOC segregation notes. CP 48-56. While Tucker did not change any of his basic opinions, he did re-score Reyes on the actuarials. CP 48. When cross-examined about the alleged rape of Fox at the SCC, which had never been prosecuted either by the SCC formal disciplinary system or the criminal justice system, Tucker testified the truth of that allegation was irrelevant to Reyes's Static-99 scoring. 2RP 293.

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