AUG 6 2010

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
BY

STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 28167-1-III

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of:

ROLANDO REYES,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

### RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF

ROBERT M. MCKENNA Attorney General

SARAH SAPPINGTON Senior Counsel WSBA No. 14514 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-2019

AUG 6 2010

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 28167-1-III

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of:

ROLANDO REYES,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

### RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF

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

### IV. ARGUMENT

Reyes makes two arguments on appeal, both of which lack merit. First, there was no violation of the constitutional requirement of an open proceeding where the matter before the trial court involved only uncontested ministerial or purely legal issues. Second, there was more than sufficient evidence presented at trial for a finding that Reyes is a sexually

violent predator. This Court should deny Reyes' appeal and affirm his civil commitment as a sexually violent predator.

## A. The Public's Right To Open Justice Was Not Violated By The Procedure Utilized

Reyes argues that Article I, Section 10 of the Washington Constitution, which requires that justice "in all cases shall be administered openly," mandates reversal in this case. His claim should be rejected. First, Reyes has no standing to raise the public's right to open proceedings under Art. 1, Section 10. Second, while Reyes is correct that the public's right to the open administration of justice is constitutionally protected, this has never been interpreted as mandating reversal in a civil case where the public is inadvertently excluded from a discussion of purely legal or uncontested ministerial matters and where neither the public nor the press was subsequently denied access to any information elicited at the hearing.

Even if an Art. 1, Section 10 violation technically occurred, reversal is not required. Rather, the case should be remanded with instructions to the trial court to file a transcript of the May 22 hearing. In the alternative, this Court could remand for an open re-hearing on that issue. Because this hearing involved no evidentiary issues and had absolutely no effect on the ultimate trial, there is no reason for retrial. Remand for filing of the transcript or re-hearing on this discreet issue will protect any interest the

public has in open proceedings, and will avoid pointless re-litigation of this matter.

### 1. Standard Of Review

Whether the right to a public trial has been violated is a question of law subject to de novo review. *State v. Bone-Club*, 128 Wn.2d 254, 256, 906 P.2d 325 (1995).

# 2. Reyes Has No Standing To Object To The In-Chambers Hearing

Art. 1, Section 10 provides that "[j]ustice in all cases shall be administered openly." The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Art. 1, Section 22 of the Washington State Constitution guarantee a criminal defendant the right to a "public trial by an impartial jury." These provisions both protect the right to a public proceeding.

Because this is a civil, rather than criminal proceeding, Reyes does not attempt to argue that his rights to a public trial under Art. 1, Section 22 have been violated. Rather, Reyes attempts to obtain a new trial by arguing that the public's right to open justice under Art. 1, Section 10 was violated by the fact that his motion to dismiss was held in chambers, rather than in open court. Reyes lacks standing to raise this issue, and as such his argument must be rejected.

"[A] plaintiff may only raise the rights of another person when '(1) the party asserting the rights has suffered an injury in fact, giving him a

sufficiently concrete interest in the outcome of the litigation, (2) there is a sufficiently close relationship between the litigant and the person whose rights are being asserted so that the litigant will be an effective proponent of the rights being litigated, and (3) there is some hindrance to the third party's ability to protect his own interests." State v. Wise, 148 Wn. App. 425, 442, 200 P.3d 266 (2009) (citing *United States v. De Gross*, 960 F.2d 1433, 1437 (9th Cir., 1992) (citing *Powers v. Ohio*, 499 U.S. 400, 409-13, 111 S. Ct. 1364, 113 L. Ed. 2d 411 (1991)). Wise, a defendant in a criminal case, argued that his rights to a public trial under Art. 1, Section 10<sup>3</sup> had been violated when the trial court conducted portions of voir dire in the trial judge's chambers without first conducting a Bone-Club analysis. rejecting Wise's Section 10 claim, the court noted that Wise did not point to any injury caused by the alleged violation, and that he was not barred from attending the juror questioning. As such, he did not have a "sufficiently close relationship" to the public's open trial right to create standing. Wise, 148 Wn. App. at 442-43.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Wise also claimed a violation of his public trial right under Section 22. Article 1, Section 22 provides, in relevant part:"In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person, or by counsel, to demand the nature and cause of the accusation against him, to have a copy thereof, to testify in his own behalf, to meet the witnesses against him face to face, to have compulsory process to compel the attendance of witnesses in his own behalf, to have a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of the county in which the offense is charged to have been committed and the right to appeal in all cases..."

In rejecting Wise's argument, the court noted that this standing requirement serves important functions. It ensures that parties with actual and substantial interests in the issue are before the court, and thus guarantees that the parties will be motivated and appropriately situated to fully and factually articulate those interests. Id. at 442. By contrast, allowing a party to raise the constitutional interests of those who are not parties to the case and have not sought to participate in the case, invites the court to resolve important legal issues on the basis of speculative uninformed claims, and in that respect diminishes the court's ability to fully analyze and resolve the issue. The general prohibition against standing to raise the rights of third parties "frees the Court not only from unnecessary pronouncement on constitutional issues, but also from premature interpretations of statutes in areas where their constitutional application might be cloudy,' and it assures the court that the issues before it will be concrete and sharply presented." Sec'y of State of Maryland v. Munson, 467 U.S. 947, 955, 104 S. Ct. 2839, 81 L. Ed. 2d 786 (1984) (quoting United States v. Raines, 362 U.S. 17, 22, 80 S. Ct. 519, 4 L. Ed. 2d 524 (1960) (footnote and citation omitted).

While some appellate courts have found that a criminal defendant may have standing to raise a Section 10 claim, none of these cases involve, as here, an after-the-fact attempt by the losing party to reverse the result in a civil trial based on the public's exclusion from a hearing on a purely legal or ministerial matter which he himself did not bother to attend. Instead, all have involved voir dire, a process which 'is itself a matter of importance, not simply to the adversaries but to the criminal justice system." *In re Pers. Restraint of Orange*, 152 Wn.2d 795, 804, 100 P.3d 291 (2004) (quoting *Press-Enter. Co. v. Superior Court*, 464 U.S. 501, 505, 104 S. Ct. 819, 78 L. Ed. 2d 629 (1984)). As such, the public policy considerations underlying those courts' standing decisions simply are not presented in this case.

Indeed, this case presents a good example of why the Court should not reach a constitutional claim raised on behalf of third parties. Reyes has not and cannot present a claim of harm to himself based on the fact that his motion was heard in chambers. Moreover, there is no evidence that the State's attorney was even aware that the hearing was being conducted in chambers, the arrangement apparently having been reached by agreement between Reyes' counsel and the trial court. Thus, the in-chambers hearing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>See, e.g. State v. Duckett, 141 Wn. App. 797, 173 P.3d 948 (2007); State v. Frawley, 140 Wn. App. 713, 167 P.3d 593 (2007); State v. Erikson, 146 Wn. App. 200,189 P.3d 245 (2008).

raises no possibility of an alleged injury to *his* rights under Art. 1, Section 10.

Nor is there reason to believe that, having foregone the opportunity to open his own proceedings—indeed, having failed to even notify the State that this proceeding was being held in chambers—Reyes is appropriately situated to advocate the alleged rights of third parties to have such proceedings open. Indeed, one can only assume that he preferred to have the hearing closed, or, at a minimum, had no interest in have the proceeding opened. That circumstance certainly would suggest that Reyes is not an appropriate advocate for parties who might wish to have such proceedings open to the public. Reves otherwise claims no close relationship with the third parties whose rights he would assert and no hindrance to the ability of those parties to assert their own rights should they choose to do so. Wise, 148 Wn. App. at 443; see also Kowalski v. Tesmer, 543 U.S. 125, 128-29, 125 S. Ct. 564, 160 L. Ed. 2d 519 (2004) (exception to general prohibition on third-party standing requires showing that party asserting the right has a close relationship with the person who possesses the right, and the possessor's ability to protect his interests is hindered). Nor has Reyes offered a concrete example of the interests of third parties or explained why those interests cannot be accommodated by a remedy short of reversal of the trial court's order of commitment.

Deciding whether the in-chambers hearing procedure comports with Art. 1, Section 10 without the benefit of hearing from third parties whose rights it allegedly infringes would place the Court in the awkward position of speculating on whether the public has a substantial interest in attending such a hearing, and what interests the public might have in such a proceeding. The Court should hold that Reyes lacks standing to challenge the constitutionality of the in-chambers and reject his argument.

## 3. Even Assuming This Court Considers His Argument, There was No Violation of the Constitutional Requirement of an Open Proceeding

Even if this Court determines that Reyes has standing to raise the public's right to be present at his motion, his argument fails. Because the issues considered at the May 22 hearing were either purely legal or uncontested ministerial matters and did not dispose of the case on its merits, the case does not fall within the "open justice" mandate of the state constitution.

While the public's constitutional right to the open administration of justice under Art. 1, Section 10 has been applied to various aspects of civil trials, the courts, in conducting that analysis, have focused on whether the proceedings or materials sought to be opened are "central to the court's decision making process." *Dreiling v. Jain*, 151 Wn.2d 900, 910, 93 P.3d 861 (2004). Thus where a matter involves testimony and is adjudicated on

its merits, the proceedings are subject to Section 10. *Cohen v. Everett City Counsel*, 85 Wn.2d 385, 535 P.2d 801(1975). Likewise, the courts have held that Art. 1, Section 10 mandates application of the factors identified in *Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa*, 97 Wn.2d 30, 640 P.2d 716 (1982) where a party seeks to prevent release of documents filed in support of a party's motion to terminate a shareholder derivative lawsuit, noting that such a motion, like a motion for summary judgment "effectively adjudicates the substantive rights of the parties." *Dreiling* 151 Wn.2d at 910.<sup>5</sup>

This does not mean, however, that all aspects of all proceedings are subject to Section 10 requirements. While under Section 10, "a strong presumption exists that courts are to be open at all trial stages" (*State v. Momah*, 167 Wn.2d 140, 148, 217 P.3d 321 (2009)), our State Supreme Court has declined to read these requirements in absolute terms, noting that "a literal interpretation of Section 10 would wreak havoc with established judicial practices in that it would allow public access to all phases of the administration of justice, including chambers conferences, plea bargaining and settlement conferences, adoption proceedings...and appellate court conferences." *Federated Publications, Inc. v. Kurtz*, 94 Wn.2d 51, 60, n.3, 615 P.2d 440 (1980).

\_\_\_\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See also Rufer v. Abbott Laboratories, 154 Wn.2d 530, 541-42, 114 P.3d 1182 (2005)(sealing of pre-trial, trial and deposition materials and transcripts); Building Industry Association of Washington v. McCarthy, 152 Wn. App. 720, 218 P.3d 196 (2009) (materials attached to summary judgment motion).

Moreover, it is clear that, had this been a criminal proceeding, Reyes would have had no right to attend the motion hearing and could not have succeeded in arguing that his rights to a public trial under Section 22 were violated. "The right to public trial is linked to the defendant's constitutional right to be present during the critical phases of trial, thus 'a defendant has a right to an open court whenever evidence is taken, during a suppression hearing...during voir dire,' and during jury selection process." State v. Sadler, 147 Wn. App. 97, 115, 193 P.3d 1108 (2008), citing State v. Riviera, 108 Wn. App. 645, 32 P.3d 292 (2001). The defendant's Art. 1, Section 22 public trial right "applies to the evidentiary phases of the trial, and to other 'adversary proceedings." Riviera 108 Wn. App. at 653 (quoting Ayala v. Speckard, 131 F.3d 62, 69 (2nd Cir. 1997). A defendant has the right to be present at proceedings where his or her presence has a reasonably substantial relation "to the fulness of his opportunity to defend against the charge...." State v. Pirtle, 136 Wn.2d 467, 483-84, 965 P.2d 593 (1998) citing State v. Lord, 123 Wn.2d 296, 306, 868 P.2d 835 (1994).

Because the criminal defendant's public trial rights under Art.1, Section 22 are related to this "fulness of opportunity" to defend against the charge, the appellate courts of this state have consistently rejected claims of violation to a criminal defendant's Art. 1, Section 22 public trial rights where the matter under consideration involved "ministerial" or purely legal

matters. A criminal defendant's right to public trial is not violated, for example, by in-chambers discussions relating to jury instructions and ministerial matters such as jury sequestration. *Pirtle*, 136 Wn.2d at 483-84. Nor is a criminal defendant's right to public trial violated when the trial court bars the public from the courtroom during discussions dealing confidentially with a juror's complaint regarding a fellow juror's lack of personal hygiene. *Riviera* at 653. Likewise, the defendant's public trial right is not violated by a trial court's conference with counsel on how to resolve a purely legal question which the jury submitted during its deliberations. *State v. Sublett*, \_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_\_, 231 P.3d 231, 243 (2010). As the Washington State Supreme Court has noted, "...a trivial closure does not necessarily violate a defendant's public trial right." *State v. Brightman*, 155 Wn.2d 506, 517, 122 P.3d 150 (2005).

The in-chambers hearing of Reyes' motion to dismiss was precisely such a trivial "closure." The issues considered were either purely legal in nature (the motion to dismiss based on jurisdictional grounds) or uncontested ministerial matters (case scheduling and the status of the GAL) and had nothing to do with the ultimate resolution of any of the factual issues resolved against him at trial. Nor did the motion hearing bear in any way on the issue of whether Reyes received a fair trial on the ultimate issue of his status as an SVP. Indeed, he does not allege that any aspect of the

proceedings was unfair, nor does he suggest that the fact that the hearing occurred in chambers had any effect on the outcome of either the motion or the trial. Rather, he simply seeks, post-hoc, to take advantage of a closure that his own attorneys at a minimum knew about and perhaps even requested, and where the State had no reason to suspect that the matter was not in open court. This Court should reject his argument.

### 4. None Of The Cases Cited By Reyes Mandate Reversal

Reyes cites to a variety of cases in which reversal was mandated due to violation of a criminal defendant's public trial rights under the Washington State Constitution, arguing that the same result is required here. In making his argument, however, Reyes fails to distinguish between the criminal defendant's public trial rights under Art. 1, Section 22, and the public's right to a public trial under Art. 1, Section 10. Ultimately, Reyes fails to identify a single civil case which has been reversed on the basis of an Art. 1, Section 10 violation, such as that claimed here.

All of the cases cited by Reyes are criminal cases that deal, broadly speaking, with one of two factual contexts: jury selection<sup>6</sup> or closure during

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